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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

NORFOLK DIVISION 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA    )          
       )  CASE No. 2:17-cr-169   
       )        
v.       )       18 U.S.C. § 371 
       )  18 U.S.C. § 1343 
SHAUN BROWN,     )  18 U.S.C. § 641 
         Defendant     ) 

 
 

DEFENDANT’S REPLY TO THE GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE IN  
OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO VACATE, SET ASIDE, OR  

CORRECT SENTENCE PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. 2255 
 

 
COMES NOW, Defendant, Shaun Brown, through undersigned counsels of record, and 

submits this Reply to the Government’s Response in Opposition to her Motion to Vacate and Set 

Aside her Conviction, and responds as follows to each of the Government’s arguments as they 

were presented: 

ARGUMENT 

I. BROWN procedurally waived her argument regarding the theft of Government 
funds and the Court had jurisdiction to hear the case. 
 

a. Procedural Waiver 

The Government is correct, Brown argues that she has committed no offense against the United 

States, and the Government has yet to explain how this argument is procedurally waived and/or 

how the Court has jurisdiction. (Govt. Resp. p. 8).  

b. The Government Had Jurisdiction 
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The Government cites to United States v. George, 676 F.3d 249, 259 (1st Cir. 2012) for the 

proposition that all that is needed is the indictment or information that alleges a violation of a 

crime set forth in Title 18, and that is the end of the inquiry, and the court is then vested with 

jurisdiction. As the Government suggests, a mere recitation of the statute does not end the 

inquiry. The operative word is “allege.” In George, the Petitioner argued that the information 

in which he pleaded did not meet the standards of Skilling, which required proof of bribes or 

kickbacks for honest service fraud, and since the information did not include proof, the district 

court was without jurisdiction. The Court explained: “Subject matter jurisdiction refers to a 

court’s power, whether constitutional or statutory, to adjudicate a case.” George, citing United 

States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002). 

Thus, an indictment need not prove the elements of the offense, but it must plead elements 

invoking the Court’s jurisdiction. “[A]n indictment setting forth all the essential elements of 

an offense is both mandatory and jurisdictional, and a defendant cannot be held to answer for 

any offense not charged in an indictment returned by grand jury.” U.S. v. Cotton, 261 F.3d 397, 

404 (2001). The Government bears the burden of alleging Brown committed crimes against 

the United States to invoke this Court’s jurisdiction.   

II. BROWN procedurally waived her argument regarding the statute of limitations, 
the defendant waived the defense of a violation of the statute of limitations, and 
regardless, there was no violation of the statute of limitations. 
 
a. Procedural Waiver 

According to the Government, Brown has not alleged the statute of limitations is a 

jurisdictional argument, but the Government will treat it so for purposes of its response since there 

appears to be no other appropriate category this falls into for a habeas petition. (Govt. Resp. p. 11). 

But see the Government Response p. 4, citing 28 U.S.C. § 2255 and listing four categories, 
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including “the sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack.” Moreover, Brown has alleged 

ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure to raise the statute of limitations as a defense.   

b. BROWN Agreed to an Extension of the Statute of Limitations 

The Government alleges that Brown agreed to an extension of the statute of limitations, 

and the charges were brought within that agreed upon extension of time. (Govt. Resp. p. 11). 

However, the Government did not get court approval of such an agreement, nor did the 

Government raise this argument at trial. See U.S. v. Caldwell, 859 F2. 805 (1988), n. 5, explaining 

the district court's dismissal of the indictment and noted that the Government did not seek prior 

judicial approval of Caldwell’s waiver. See also Defendant’s Motion p. 18, explaining the Court’s 

exclusion of evidence the alleged agreement, and the Government’s waiver leaves nothing for 

review. The gravamen of the offenses are that the alleged tolling agreement applies to “federal 

laws,” laws against the United States, in which the Government failed to plead in its indictment. 

The Government sought to make a part of the record Exhibit 122, an alleged agreement to 

extend the statute of limitations, allegedly signed by Shaun Brown and her former counsel before 

the previous trial, which resulted in a hung jury. (Attached Exhibit 1, Vol 4, p. 624, line 16-25 - p. 

625, lines 1-7.) The following exchanged occurred for our purposes: 

The Court: “If counsel will stipulate to this paper, then I don’t think it will be necessary to make 
it an exhibit”. (Exhibit 1, Vol 4, p. 625, lines 17-19. 

Mr. Ellenson: “I thought that was – the motion to exclude, I haven’t gone down any of that.  If 
they want to start opening the door for all this kind of stuff, that’s fine, but I’m not going there, 
and I haven’t gone there, and I don’t intend to go there”. (Id. line, 20-24). 

The Court: “Just put stipulated and sign it, and we’ll just put it in the record. It doesn’t need to be 
an exhibit”. (Exhibit 1, Vol 4, p. 625, lines 25; p. 626 lines 1-2. 

Ms. O’Boyle: “We weren’t trying to open the door. We’re trying to make sure we were – legally 
covered, and it was part of the record. And is the only reason why we were presenting it and putting 
it into the record. As long as defense counsel will stipulate –“. P. 626, lines 3-9. 

The Court: “Well, just write “10/25/18 stipulated,” and then you sign it. Id. lines 8-9. 
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Ms. O’Boyle: That’s fine. Id. at line 10. 

The Court: “And we’ll file it with the clerk, but we won’t put it in as an exhibit. That doesn’t 
need to be in there”. Id. at 11-13. 

Here, the record conclusively shows the Government did not intend to enforce an alleged 

tolling agreement, rather waived the right at trial. See U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733-34, 

explaining that waiver leaves nothing for an appellate court to review. See also United States v. 

Langford, 771 Fed. Appx. 521, 527 (4th Cir. 2019) (citing Chong Lam) stating that defendant 

waived appellate review of his arguments by failing to raise them in his motion for judgment of 

acquittal. 

c. Tolling Agreement 

“Tolling agreements are contracts and thus should be interpreted like any other contract.” 

United States v. Brattain, No. 18-20107, 2019 WL 197330, at 2 (E.D. Mich. Jan. 14, 2019). See 

also Delano v. Abbott Labs., 908 F. Supp. 2d 888, 895 (W.D. Tenn. 2002) (citing cases); Gould 

Elec., Inc. v. Livingston Cty. Road Comm’m, No. 17-11130, 2018 WL 1035714, at 3 (E.D. Mich. 

Feb. 23, 2018) (citing cases); see also Camico Mut. Ins. Co. v. Citizen Bank, 474 F.3d 989, 992-

93 (7th Cir. 2007). “Because a tolling agreement is a contract, its terms necessarily must be 

interpreted in light of the parties’ reasonable expectations.” United States v. Debreczeny, 69 F. 

App’x 702, 706 (6th Cir. 2003). The court must first look within the four corners of the agreement 

to determine if it is clear and unambiguous. See Camico Mut. Ins., 474 F.3d at 993. Ambiguity 

exists when the language of the contract is susceptible to more than one interpretation. Debreczeny, 

69 F. App’x at 707.  

Federal Courts have validated tolling agreements. See U.S. v. Helbling, 209 F.3d 226, 231 

(3rd Cir. 2000), denying relief on grounds defendant was coerced by fraud or misconduct. Applying 

principles of contract law, the court found the agreement allowed Helbling to present his claims 
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for investigation; the Government met with Helbling and accepted documents in which he believed 

supported his claims; the Government agent reviewed the documents and collaborated with an 

agent who had previously investigated Helbling complaints, as such, the Government fulfilled its 

part of the bargain. Id. at 231. 

d. Lack of Consideration 

In the case at bar, there is no consideration, which results in the agreement being reduced 

to an illusionary contract. “A promise without consideration is not enforceable.” Kilburn v. Pyne, 

279 F. 864, 866 (3rd Cir. 1922). For a promise to be enforceable, there must be consideration. See 

Martindale v. Sandvik, Inc., 800 A.2d 872, 878 (N.J. 2002). See generally 2 Corbin on Contracts 

§ 5.28 (“If what appears to be a promise is an illusion, there is no promise … such an illusory 

promise is neither enforceable against the one making it, nor is it operative as a consideration for 

a return promise. Thus, if there is no other consideration for a return promise, then result is that no 

contract is created.”). “The essential requirement of consideration is a bargained for exchange of 

promises or performance that may consist of an act, a performance, or the creation, modification, 

or destruction of a legal relationship.” Shebar v. Sanyo Business Systems Corp., 544 A.2 at 383; 

Martindale, 800 A.2d at 878.  

When ambiguity exist, courts construe agreements generally in favor of the defendant and 

against the government. See Debreczeny, 69 F/ App’x at 707-08 citing United States v. Gebbie, 

294 F.3d 540, 51-52 (3rd Cir. 2002) and United States v. Randolph, 230 F.3d 243, 248 (6th Cir. 

2000). “[T]he government ordinarily must bear responsibility for any lack of clarity”. Id. See also 

Untied States v. Goyal, No. 04-00201, 2007 WL 1031102, at 3 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 3, 2007) (finding 

ambiguity in tolling agreement and thus construing the agreement in favor of the defendant).  See 

U.S. v. Battain, No. 18-20107, 2019 WL 197330, at 2 (E.D. Mich. Jan. 14, 2019) holding that a 
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general construction “would effectively give the government power to transform the agreement 

unilaterally with no deference to the intentions of Defendant.” 

Contract formation requires consideration. To bargain, the Government needed chips. i.e., 

an indictment or the ability to immediately bring charges founded on an indictment yielding some 

benefit to Brown. It is not clear in the case at bar which party to the agreement is “desiring that an 

indictment against Shaun Brown not be immediately returned so that she may discuss these matters 

with her attorneys and the United States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Virginia.” 

The illusion being the Governments’ continuing investigations beyond the statute of limitations, 

which ordinarily requires Shaun Brown to discuss matters with her attorneys and the United States 

Attorney’s Office (the illusion) no matter when an indictment is returned. Contrasting Shebar, the 

court said the plaintiff “[a]greed to relinquish his new position at Sony in exchange for job security 

at Sanyo … Sanyo, in turn, agreed to relinquish its right to terminate plaintiff’s employment at 

will in exchange for the retention of a valued employee.” Id. at 289. “Such bargain for and 

exchanged promises furnish ample consideration for an enforceable contract.” Id.  

To the extent it is argued that Shaun Brown exchanged the right to be immediately indicted, 

such an argument without more – an opportunity to raise challenges, or meet the government 

allegations, fails for lack of consideration. The government was not ready to indict Brown at the 

time the wavier was signed. See U.S. v. Caldwell, 859 F.2d 805, 808 (1988) “Nor does he suggest 

that the government was not ready to indict Caldwell at the time the wavier was signed”. According 

to the alleged agreement, Brown was facing “possible violations” of federal laws; a grand jury was 

“currently investigating” her; and that Brown was advised of the nature of “possible charges.” The 

government concedes: “pre-indictment negotiations.” (Govt. Resp. p. 2) In short, the Government 

had no indictment, and was not even ready to indict Brown.  The same results when inquiry is 

Case 2:17-cr-00169-RCY-DEM   Document 165   Filed 03/13/22   Page 6 of 15 PageID# 3834



7 
 

limited to the four corners of the alleged agreement: “[B]rown acknowledges that she has been 

advised by her own attorneys of: the nature of the possible charges; her rights; and the statute of 

limitations that apply to the possible charges” (Dkt. 26-1, p. 1). The statute of limitations runs not 

against “possible charges.” Such would be an illusion.  

Not to belabor the point, in Vorley, the court found the tolling order utterly irrelevant to the 

charges later returned by the grand jury in the original and superseding indictment.” United States 

v. Vorley, No. 18-CR 00035, 2020 WL 55121334, at 9 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 12, 2020).  Because 

“[n]either the original indictment nor the superseding indictment relied on the tolling order or the 

complaint.” Id. “Even had there been no complaint, or had it made no reference to tolling, the 

government was free to, and did, seek and obtain indictments on charges that were not included in 

the complaint and that did not rely on the tolling order.” Id. “Tolling order or no, the defendants 

could have been charged with wire fraud affecting a financial institution; the tolling order 

permitted the government to do nothing that it was not permitted to do in any event.” Id. 

Likewise, any alleged agreement is irrelevant because neither indictment relied on the 

agreement, for anything is “possible.” Even had there been no indictment, or had it made no 

reference to tolling, the Government was free to, and did seek and obtain indictments on charges 

that were not included in the initial indictment, and Brown has already shown the superseding does 

not relate back, such that it can be said the Government relied upon the agreement. Tolling 

agreement or not, defendant Shaun Brown could have been charged with wire fraud and other 

charges; the tolling agreement permitted the government to do nothing that it was not permitted to 

do in any event. The superseding indictment alleges criminal episodes April 2012-June 2013; July 

2012-September 27, 2012; October 2012; Summer 2012-August 2012, yet the government 

concedes in the agreement that October 25, 2017, serves as a bar (emphasis added) to any 
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particular offense. The year “2013” is found nowhere in the alleged agreement. Having ushered in 

the year June 2013 via superseding indictment filed May 10, 2018, post a fully integrated contract 

is inconsistent and independent of the terms of the alleged agreement, specifically January 25, 

2018 and beyond the date in which the parties agree the statute of limitations bars charges (October 

25, 2017).  

e. Parol Evidence Rule 

According to the Government there were preindictment discussions and negotiations with 

defendant and her former counsel, the parties entered into an agreed Extension of the Statute of 

Limitations. “Virginia courts have consistently applied the parol evidence rule to exclude extrinsic 

evidence except where an ambiguity is present”. In re Franklin Equipment Co., 41 B.R. 176 

(2009); Ott v. L&J Holdings, LLC, 275 Va. 182, 187, 654 S.E.2d 902, 905, citing Eure v. Norfolk 

Shipbuilding & Drydock Corp., 263 Va. 624, 632, 561 S.E.2d 663, 667-68 (2002) (“When a 

document is ambiguous … the court will look to parol evidence in order to determine the intent of 

the parties.”). “In order to determine whether the language is ambiguous, we look at the words at 

issue within the four corners of the Agreement itself.” Eure v. Norfolk Shipbuilding & Drydock 

Corp., Inc. 263 Va 624 (2002), citing Wilson v. Holyfield, 227 Va. 184, 188, 313 S.E.2d 396, 398 

(1984). However, inquiring is limited to evidence presented at trial (“Having determined that the 

language in the Agreement is ambiguous, we will next consider the parol evidence presented at 

trial”). Eure at 633. 

According to the Government, Brown and her counsel, Jeff Swartz, engaged the 

government in pre-indictment negotiations, and that Brown and Swartz (sic) spent a significant 

amount of time reviewing discovery at the U.S. Attorney’s Office in Norfolk. (Govt. Resp. P. 2). 
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However, this parol evidence was not presented at trial, and the statements are hearsay, not 

supported by the record, for neither Brown nor Swartz testified at trial on the subject matter.  

f. Modification 

To the extent there is a benefit of the bargain, the agreement has been modified by the 

terms of the superseding indictment discussed supra.  The agreement should not apply to the 

superseding indictment, because the agreement does not specifically reference the superseding 

indictment and the same was filed beyond January 25, 2018. Even if the agreement tolled the 

statute of limitations, it only tolled the statute as it relates to the terms of the indictment that was 

“immediately returned”, i.e., the indictment returned December 20, 2017. “When a superseding 

indictment is filed outside the limitations period but does not broaden the charges set forth in the 

original indictment, it is said to “relate back” to the filing of the original indictment.” United States 

v. Smith, 197 F.3d 225, 227-27 (6th Cir. 1999). “[A] superseding indictment brought at any time 

while the first indictment is still validly pending, if and only if it does not broaden the charges 

made in the first indictment …” United States v. Wilsey, 458 F.2d 11, 12 (9th Cir. 1972), 

“Ordinarily, the prosecution would proceed under the original indictment, if it retains vitality, or 

else would secure another indictment.” United States v. Cerilli, 558 F.2d 697, 701 (3d Cir. 1977). 

Here the government got greedy. The terms of the superseding indictment broaden the charges of 

the initial indictment such that it amounted to a new offer (modification), requiring new 

consideration, acceptance, and mutual assent. 

For example, compare indictments attached herein as Exhibit 2: the superseding indictment 

added “Conspiracy” - 18 USC § 371: 

• Paragraph 9: “[i] violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and (2) knowingly 
cause the concealing, cover up, falsification, and making of false entries in records, 
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documents, and tangible objects, with the intent to impeded, obstruct, and influence the 
investigation and proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of a department 
and agency of the United States, and in relation to and contemplation of such matter and 
case, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519”.  
 

• Paragraph 12: “In or about April 2012, Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1, through JOBS, 
applied to VDH to be sponsors of the SFSP in the Eastern District of Virginia and 
elsewhere”. 
 

• Paragraph 13: Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 requested to be a self-preparation” SFSP 
sponsor, which would allow for a higher rate of reimbursement on meals compared to 
vendor prepared meals. VDH denied this request and categorized JOBS SFSP as vendor 
prepared. Despite this denial, Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 did not use vendor-
prepared meals for the SFSP.” 
 

• Paragraph 10: “A purpose of the conspiracy was for the defendant Shaun Brown and 
Conspirator #1 to personally profit by defrauding the SFSP by falsely and fraudulently 
inflating the number of meals that JOBS served to low-income children”. 
 

• Paragraph 14: “Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 requested three advance payments from 
VDH for Summer 2012: $75,000 for June; $200,000 for July, and $150,000 for August.  
 

• Paragraph 15: Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 used 2012 SFSP funds from VDH to repay 
an approximate $70,000 overpayment by VDH from the 2011 SFSP”. 
 

• Paragraph 18: Shaun Brown and others caused the forgery of JOBS employee’s signatures 
on meal count sheets”.  
 

• Paragraph 20: Shaun Brown and conspirator #1 entered, via the internet, false, inflated 
numbers of meals that JOBS served to children via VHD online reimbursement system. 
Specifically, Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 electronically submitted three claims to 
VDH for reimbursement: approximately $107,263 on or about July 12, 2012; 
approximately $310,479 on or about September 27, 2012; and approximately $436,047 on 
or about October 3, 2012, for a total of approximately $853,789”.  
 

• Paragraph 21: “Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 fraudulently induced VDH to send funds, 
via interstate wire, to reimburse JOBS for meals that were never provided to low-income 
children. In total, VDH paid JOBS approximately $872,466 for the 2012 SFSP”. 
 

• Paragraph 23: VDH audited JOBS 2012 SFSP, and, based on the falsified paperwork JOBS 
provided, found that VDH overpaid JOBS and that JOBS owed approximately $39,290 
back to VDH. In March 2013, Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 appealed the finding”. 
 

• Paragraph 24: “In May 2013, VDH denied JOBS application to be a SFSP sponsor for 
2013. Shaun Brown and Conspirator #1 appealed the denial on or about May 30, 2013”.  
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The superseding indictment varied and broadened the terms of the agreement, such that it 

worketh a modification, which cannot be enforced absent some “new consideration.” Absent this 

“new consideration,” it cannot be said that Shaun Brown knowingly and intelligently waived or 

bargained her rights pursuant to an agreement inclusive of an indictment not yet in existence. Nor 

can it be said there were unanticipated circumstances by the parties at the time of the agreement 

rendering the matter fair and equitable. “Indeed, two indictments may be outstanding at the same 

time for the same offense if jeopardy has not attached to the first indictment.” United States v. 

Stricklin, 591 F.2 1112, citing Unites States v. Cerilli, 558 F.2d 697, 700 (3d Cir. 1977), cert. 

denied, 434 U.S. 966. “Since the original indictment apparently was never dismissed, there are 

technically two pending indictments against Stricklin, and it appears that the Government may 

select one of them with which to proceed to trial.” Stricklin citing, United States v. Cerilli, 558 

F.2d at 700.  

If the selected-superseding indictment “relates back,” then both the agreement and statute of 

limitations bars prosecuting crimes beyond October 25, 2017. If the original indictment is 

controlling (via the tolling agreement), then the Government chose the wrong horse in the race 

against the statute of limitations, for it proceeded to trial on the superseding indictment (wrong 

indictment) and one that is barred by statute of limitations.  

To the extent the agreement is enforceable, the statute of limitations would start again on 

or about October 26, 2017, which would render the superseding indictment dead on arrival as to 

all charges not relating back (October 26, 2017 – May 10, 2018 (138 days post statute of 

limitations)). The Government filed its original indictment on December 20, 2017, tolling the 

statute of limitations. Without waving objections to the invalid agreement, Shaun Brown agreed 

not to raise the statute of limitations for any “indictment” beyond January 25, 2018. Having done 
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so extended the statute of limitations from on or about October 25, 2017, something contracting 

parties cannot do — only Congress.   

III. BROWN’S trial counsel was constitutionally effective, and she suffered no 
prejudice. 

The Government essentially argues that “Brown’s own trial counsel correctly refutes that there 

were any objections to be made concerning the statute of limitations defense or the jury instructions 

as stated in the alleged affidavit of James Ellenson.” (Govt. Resp. p. 16). The Government moved 

this court to compel certain information from defense counsel. (Dkt. 147). According to the 

Government, Brown’s defense counsel was privy to information critical to the resolution of issues 

raised in her petition. (Dkt. 147, p.1). According to the Government, “Mr. Ellison, knowing the 

agreement to be valid, stipulated to the extension.” However, the record does not support this 

conclusion. Whatever Mr. Ellenson knew “during trial” about the agreement he did not say: 

Mr. Ellenson: “I thought that was – the motion to exclude, I haven’t gone down any of that. If 
they want to start opening the door for all this kind of stuff, that’s fine, but I’m not going there, 
and I haven’t gone there, and I don’t intend to go there.” (Brown’s Motion p. 10). 

So far, there is no evidence that Mr. Ellenson has “gone there.” The alleged document is not 

an “affidavit.” The document shows no signs of an oath of affirmation subject to penalty of perjury, 

lacks an attestation as to the statements therein being true and correct subject to penalty of perjury, 

and not incompliance with federal or statutory laws governing affidavits. For example, 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1746 requires an oath: “I declare (or certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the 

foregoing is true and correct. Executed on (date). (Signature).” Thus, the document is not an 

affidavit. It is “hearsay” within the meaning of Fed. R. Evid. 801. At behest of the Court, Mr. 

Ellenson not functioning as 6th amendment counsel, stipulated to the authenticity of the document, 

the same was never offered into evidence. The testimony of the Swartz is needed for the proper 
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foundation, and it is the testimony of the Swartz to prove up the document as a business record 

(which solves the hearsay problem). The Government has none of this. 

Even if the document is an affidavit, Ellenson’s testimony adds nothing to the issue of being 

ineffective counsel. He does not explain how he knows “[S]haun was involved in every aspect of 

her two criminal trials,” considering he only represented her in the second trial. He concedes, “I 

am not able to determine from notes, or e-mails, or recall, whether I actually gave her a complete 

set of the proposed jury instructions.” And what if he did? Brown was not co-counsel. He is 

uncertain if he even objected to the jury instructions.1 As for what Brown said to her attorney at 

the time, Jeff Swartz, is attorney client privilege and double hearsay. And, as for Ellenson’s 

explanation as to why he did not object to the tolling agreement, such stipulation went to 

authenticity and the same was never admitted into evidence, discussed supra.  

WHEREFORE, Defendant request this Court grant an evidentiary hearing so that her counsel 

can have the opportunity to present the arguments in her motion without equivocation as to 

overcome the government’s attempt to mischaracterize the issues.  

Respectfully submitted this 13th day of March 2022. 

SHAUN BROWN, 
By Counsel 

      /s/ Bradrick J. Collins 
      Bradrick J. Collins 

Pro Hac Vice 
The Law Office of Bradrick J. Collins, PLLC. 
P.O. Box 851937 
Mesquite, Texas 75185 
Office: (469) 883-6207 
Email: attorneybradrickcollins@gmail.com 

 
1 “If I did not object to the jury instruction(s), it’s because I personally did not see anything 
objectionable”.  
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/s/ Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz 

      Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz, Esq. 
      Virginia State Bar #90172 
      Sherman-Stoltz Law Group, PLLC. 
      P.O. Box 69, Gum Spring, VA 23065 
      Office: (540) 451-7451 / Fax: (540) 572-4272 
      Email: Jessica@sslawgroupva.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby CERTIFY that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

Defendant’s Reply to the Government’s Response in Opposition to Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, 

or Correct Sentence Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 2255 with the Clerk of the Court via the CM/EFC 

system, which will automatically send an email notification of such filing to all parties. 

This the 13th day of March 2022. 

       /s/ Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz 
       Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz, Esq. 
       Virginia State Bar #90172 
       Sherman-Stoltz Law Group, PLLC. 
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FILED
IM nPFN COURT,

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Norfolk Division

DCL. V0 2017

CUERK.U.S.OISTRIUI CiUUKT
MnocniK VA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V.

SHAUN BROWN,

Defendant.

CRIMINAL N0.2:17cr

18 U.S.C. § 1343
Wire Fraud

(Counts 1-2)

18 U.S.C. §641
Theft of Government Property
(Count 3)

18 U.S.C. § 981(a)
Asset Forfeiture

INDICTMENT

December 2017 Term - At Norfolk, Virginia

INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

1. The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) funds the Summer Food

Service Program (SFSP), which is designed to ensure that low-income children continue to

receive food when school is not in session.

2. The SFSP is administered by sponsors who coordinate sites where the food is

served to the children.

3. The Virginia Department of Health (VDH), located in Richmond and within the

Eastern District of Virginia, administers the SFSP under the Nutrition School Program for SFSP

program sponsors and sites within the Commonwealth of Virginia.
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4. As part of the SFSP, sponsors mustkeepaccurate countsof meals served to

children in order to be reimbursed for those meals. In addition, sponsors must serve milk with

each meal in order for the meal to be reimbursable.

5. Jobs Community Development Corporation (JOBS) is a nonprofit corporation

registered in Virginia. SHAUN BROWN, while in the Eastern District of Virginia, ranthe day-

to-dayoperations of JOBS' SFSP and was responsible for preparing and providing accurate

paperwork and information to the VDH.

6. In 2011 and 2012, JOBS was a sponsor and site administrator of the SFSP in the

Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere.

7. In 2012, the VDH reimbursed JOBS approximately $ 803,000.00 for the SFSP.

COUNTS ONE AND TWO

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

1. The introductory allegations contained in this Indictment are realleged and

incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

2. From at least April 2012, through in or about December 2012, in the Eastern

District of Virginia and elsewhere, defendant SHAUN BROWN and others known and unknown

to the grand jury, for the purpose ofexecuting and attempting to execute the following scheme

and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of

wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, and signals for the

purpose ofexecuting such scheme and artifice, namely transmitting and causing to be
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transmitting false claims to theVDH viathe Internet, which caused money from theVDH to be

sent through interstate wires. Thisscheme andartifice operated in substance as follows:

3. The objectof the scheme and artificeto defraud was for BROWN, and others, to

personally profitbydefrauding the SFSP by falsely and fraudulently inflating the number of

meals that JOBS served to underprivileged children.

4. It was part of said schemeand artifice that BROWN, and others, directed

employees to falsify paperwork ("mealcountsheets") that documented the numbers of meals

served through the SFSP.

5. It was further part ofsaid scheme and artifice that BROWN, and others, directed

employees to sign blank meal count sheets so BROWN and others could fill in false and

fraudulent numbers at a later time.

6. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that BROWN, and others, over-

ordered milk to make it appear that JOBS was serving more underprivileged children than they

actually served through the SFSP.

7. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that BROWN, and others, executed

her scheme and artifice to defraud by entering and causing to be entered, via the Internet, false,

inflated numbers of meals that JOBS served to children via the VDH's online reimbursement

system.

8. It was further part ofsaid scheme and artifice that BROWN, and others,

fraudulently induced SFSP to send funds, via interstate wire, to reimburse JOBS for meals that

were never provided to underprivileged children.
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9. It was further part of said schemeand artifice that BROWN, and others,used the

fraudulently received funds for their own personal purposes.

COUNT ONE:

10. On or about October 12,2012, in the Eastern District ofVirginia and elsewhere,

for the purpose ofexecuting the aforesaid scheme and artifice and attempting to do so, SHAUN

BROWN did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication

in interstate and foreign commerce, a fraudulent reimbursementamount ofapproximately$

24,400.00 from the VDH to JOBS' account at Old Point National Bank.

COUNT TWO:

11. On or about November 15,2012, in the Eastern District of Virginia and

elsewhere, for the purpose ofexecuting the aforesaid scheme and artifice and attempting to do

so, SHAUN BROWN did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire

communication in interstate and foreign commerce, a fi-audulent reimbursement amount of

approximately $ 414,671.00 from the VDH to JOBS' account at Old Point National Bank.

(In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1343.)
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COUNT THREE

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

1. The introductory allegations and factual allegations contained in Counts One and

Two of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated hereinas if copiedverbatim.

2. From in or about April 2012 and continuing until in or about November 2012,

within the Eastern District of Virginia, the defendant, SHAUN BROWN, did embezzle, steal,

purloin and knowingly convert to herown use, on a recurring basis, a record, voucher, money and

thing of value of the United States, to wit: reimbursement payments in an amount exceeding

$1,000.00, from the United States DepartmentofAgricultureand Virginia DepartmentofHealth's

Summer Food Service Program to which she was not entitled.

(In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 641.)

Case 2:17-cr-00169-HCM-DEM   Document 1   Filed 12/20/17   Page 5 of 7 PageID# 5Case 2:17-cr-00169-RCY-DEM   Document 165-2   Filed 03/13/22   Page 6 of 21 PageID# 3853



FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

1. The defendant, if convicted of any ofthe violations of this Indictment, shall

forfeit to the United States, as part of the sentencing pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal

Procedure32.2, any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds

traceable to the violation.

2. If any property that is subject to forfeiture above, as a result of any act or

omission of the defendants, (a) cannot be located upon the exercise ofdue diligence, (b) has been

transferred to, sold to, or deposited with a third party, (c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction

of the Court, (d) has been substantially diminished in value, or (e) has been commingled with

other property that cannot be divided without difficulty, it is the intention of the United States to

seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant, as subject to forfeiture under Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(p).

(In accordance with 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461.)
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United States v. SHAUN BROWN

Criminal No. 2:17cr

DANA J. BOENTE

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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ElizabeifLM. ,Ti^i
Assistant United States Attorney
Attorney for the United States
United States Attorney's Office
101 West Main Street, Suite 8000
Norfolk, VA 23510
Office Number - 757-441 -6331

Facsimile Number - 757-441-6689

E-Mail Address - elizabeth.yusi@usdoj.gov
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 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Norfolk Division 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )   
  )  CRIMINAL NO. 2:17cr169  
 v.  )  
     )  18 U.S.C. § 371 
SHAUN BROWN,  )  Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud 
    )  and Causing False Records 
 Defendant.  )  (Count 1) 
    ) 
    )  18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2 
    )  Wire Fraud 
    )  (Counts 2-3) 
    )   
    )  18 U.S.C. §§ 641 and 2 
    )  Theft of Government Property 
    )  (Count 4) 
    ) 
    )  18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C); 28 U.S.C. 
    )  § 2461 
    )  Asset Forfeiture 

       
SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

 
May 2018 Term – At Norfolk, Virginia 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT: 

INTRODUCTION 

At all times relevant to this Superseding Indictment: 

1. The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) funds the Summer Food 

Service Program (SFSP), which is designed to ensure that low-income children continue to 

receive food when school is not in session.  The USDA is a department and agency of the 

United States. 

2. The SFSP is administered by sponsors who coordinate sites where the food is 

served to the children. 
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3. The Virginia Department of Health (VDH), located in Richmond and within the 

Eastern District of Virginia, administers the SFSP under the Nutrition School Program for SFSP 

program sponsors and sites within the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

4. As part of the SFSP, sponsors must keep accurate counts of meals served to 

children in order to be reimbursed for those meals.  In addition, sponsors must serve milk with 

each meal in order for the meal to be fully reimbursable.   

5. SFSP sponsors can request advance funds from VDH to cover initial expenses. 

6. Jobs Virginia Community Development Corporation (JOBS) is a nonprofit 

corporation registered in Virginia.  In 2011 and 2012, JOBS was a sponsor and site 

administrator of the SFSP in the Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere. 

7. SHAUN BROWN, while in the Eastern District of Virginia, ran the day-to-day 

operations of JOBS’ SFSP and was responsible for preparing and providing accurate paperwork 

and information to VDH with Conspirator #1. 

COUNT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud  

and Cause False Records) 
 

8. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 7 of the Introduction section of 

the Superseding Indictment are realleged and incorporated as if set forth fully herein.  

9. From at least in or about April 2012, through at least in or about June 2013, in the 

Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere, defendant SHAUN BROWN, Conspirator #1, and 

others known and unknown to the grand jury, unlawfully and knowingly combined, conspired 

and agreed with each other to commit the following offenses against the United States: (1) to 

devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the United States Department of 
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Agriculture and Virginia Department of Health and for obtaining money and property from said 

agencies by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, 

transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and 

foreign commerce, writings, signs, and signals for the purpose of executing such scheme and 

artifice, namely transmitting false requests for reimbursement for JOBS’ SFSP via the Internet, 

which caused money from Virginia Department of Health to be sent through interstate wires, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and (2) to knowingly cause the 

concealing, covering up, falsification, and making of false entries in records, documents, and 

tangible objects, with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper 

administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of a department and agency of the United 

States, and in relation to and contemplation of such matter and case, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1519.  

PURPOSE 

10. A purpose of the conspiracy was for the defendant SHAUN BROWN and 

Conspirator #1 to personally profit by defrauding the SFSP by falsely and fraudulently inflating 

the number of meals that JOBS served to low-income children.   

MANNER AND MEANS 

11. The manner and means by which SHAUN BROWN, Conspirator #1, and others 

known and unknown to the grand jury, carried out the conspiracy included, but were not limited 

to the following: 
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a.  SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 entered, via the Internet, false, inflated 

numbers of meals that JOBS served to children via VDH’s online reimbursement 

system.   

b. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 routinely falsified and caused others to 

falsify paperwork to reflect that JOBS fed many more children then JOBS 

actually fed during 2012. 

c.  SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 routinely over-ordered milk and other 

food products in order to support JOBS’ request for reimbursement for meals. 

OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

12. In or about April 2012, SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1, through JOBS, 

applied to VDH to be sponsors of the SFSP in the Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere. 

13. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 requested to be a “self-preparation” SFSP 

sponsor, which would allow for a higher rate of reimbursement on meals compared to vendor-

prepared meals.  VDH denied this request and categorized JOBS’ SFSP as vendor-prepared.  

Despite this denial, SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 did not use vendor-prepared meals for 

the SFSP. 

14. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 requested three advance payments from 

VDH for Summer 2012: $75,000 for June; $200,000 for July, and $150,000 for August.   

15. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 used 2012 SFSP funds from VDH to repay 

an approximate $70,000 overpayment by VDH from the 2011 SFSP. 

16. SHAUN BROWN and others directed employees to falsify paperwork, including 

meal count sheets, that documented the numbers of meals served through the SFSP. 
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17. SHAUN BROWN and others directed employees to sign blank meal count sheets 

so SHAUN BROWN and others could fill in false and fraudulent numbers at a later time. 

18. SHAUN BROWN and others caused the forgery of JOBS employees’ signatures 

on meal count sheets.  

19. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 over-ordered milk to make it appear that 

JOBS was serving more low-income children than they actually served through the SFSP.   

20. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 entered, via the Internet, false, inflated 

numbers of meals that JOBS served to children via VDH’s online reimbursement system.  

Specifically, SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 electronically submitted three claims to 

VDH for reimbursement: approximately $107,263 on or about July 12, 2012; approximately 

$310,479 on or about September 27, 2012; and approximately $436,047 on or about October 3, 

2012, for a total of approximately $853,789. 

21. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 fraudulently induced VDH to send funds, 

via interstate wire, to reimburse JOBS for meals that were never provided to low-income 

children.  In total, VDH paid JOBS approximately $872,466 for the 2012 SFSP. 

22. SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 used the fraudulently received funds for 

their own personal purposes.   

23. VDH audited JOBS’ 2012 SFSP, and, based on the falsified paperwork JOBS 

provided, found that VDH overpaid JOBS and that JOBS owed approximately $39,290 back to 

VDH.  In March 2013, SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 appealed the finding.   
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24. In May 2013, VDH denied JOBS’ application to be a SFSP sponsor for 

2013.  SHAUN BROWN and Conspirator #1 appealed the denial on or about May 30, 

2013.   

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371).  
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COUNTS TWO AND THREE 
(Wire Fraud) 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT: 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 7 of the Introduction section 

and factual allegations contained in Count One of the Superseding Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated as if set forth fully herein.  

2. From at least April 2012, through in or about June 2013, in the Eastern District of 

Virginia and elsewhere, defendant SHAUN BROWN and others known and unknown to the 

grand jury, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the following scheme and 

artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of 

wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, and signals for the 

purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, namely transmitting and causing to be 

transmitting false claims to VDH via the Internet, which caused money from VDH to be sent 

through interstate wires.  This scheme and artifice operated in substance as follows: 

3. The object of the scheme and artifice to defraud was for SHAUN BROWN, and 

others, to personally profit by defrauding the SFSP by falsely and fraudulently inflating the 

number of meals that JOBS served to low-income children.   

4. It was part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, directed 

employees to falsify paperwork, such as meal count sheets, that documented the numbers of 

meals served through the SFSP. 
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5. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, 

directed employees to sign blank meal count sheets so SHAUN BROWN and others could fill in 

false and fraudulent numbers at a later time.  

6. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, 

over-ordered milk to make it appear that JOBS was serving more low-income children than they 

actually served through the SFSP.  

7. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, 

executed her scheme and artifice to defraud by entering and causing to be entered, via the 

Internet, false, inflated numbers of meals that JOBS served to children via VDH’s online 

reimbursement system.   

8. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, 

fraudulently induced SFSP to send funds, via interstate wire, to reimburse JOBS for meals that 

were never provided to low-income children.   

9. It was further part of said scheme and artifice that SHAUN BROWN, and others, 

used the fraudulently received funds for their own personal purposes.   

COUNT TWO: 

10. On or about October 12, 2012, in the Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere, 

for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme and artifice and attempting to do so, SHAUN 

BROWN did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication 

in interstate and foreign commerce, a fraudulent reimbursement amount of approximately 

$24,400 from the Virginia Department of Health to JOBS’ account at Old Point National Bank.    
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COUNT THREE: 

11. On or about November 15, 2012, in the Eastern District of Virginia and 

elsewhere, for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme and artifice and attempting to do 

so, SHAUN BROWN did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire 

communication in interstate and foreign commerce, a fraudulent reimbursement amount of 

approximately $414,671 from Virginia Department of Health to JOBS’ account at Old Point 

National Bank.    

 (In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.) 
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COUNT FOUR 
(Theft of Government Funds) 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT: 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 7 of the Introduction section 

and factual allegations contained in Counts One through Three of this Superseding Indictment 

are realleged and incorporated as if set forth fully herein. 

2. From in or about April 2012 and continuing until in or about November 2012, 

within the Eastern District of Virginia, the defendant, SHAUN BROWN, did embezzle, steal, 

purloin and knowingly convert to her own use, on a recurring basis, a record, voucher, money and 

thing of value of the United States, to wit: reimbursement payments in an amount exceeding $1,000 

from the United States Department of Agriculture and Virginia Department of Health’s Summer 

Food Service Program to which she was not entitled.  

 (In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 641 and 2.) 
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER ALLEGES AND FINDS PROBABLE CAUSE THAT: 

1. The defendant, if convicted of any of the violations alleged in counts 1 through 4 

of this Superseding Indictment, shall forfeit to the United States, as part of the sentencing 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, any property, real or personal, which 

constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the violation. 

2. If any property that is subject to forfeiture above, as a result of any act or 

omission of the defendants, (a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, (b) has been 

transferred to, sold to, or deposited with a third party, (c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction 

of the Court, (d) has been substantially diminished in value, or (e) has been commingled with 

other property that cannot be divided without difficulty, it is the intention of the United States to 

seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant, as subject to forfeiture under Title 21, 

United States Code, Section 853(p). 

(In accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).)  
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United States v. SHAUN BROWN  
Criminal No. 2:17cr169 
 

A TRUE BILL: 
 
 

                              
FOREPERSON 

 
TRACY DOHERTY-MCCORMICK 
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 
 
By:                              
 Elizabeth M. Yusi 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 Attorney for the United States 
 United States Attorney’s Office 
 101 West Main Street, Suite 8000 
 Norfolk, VA 23510 
 Office Number - 757-441-6331 
 Facsimile Number - 757-441-6689 
 E-Mail Address - elizabeth.yusi@usdoj.gov 
 
 
By:                              
 Melissa O’Boyle 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 Attorney for the United States 
 United States Attorney’s Office 
 101 West Main Street, Suite 8000 
 Norfolk, VA 23510 
 Office Number - 757-441-6331 
 Facsimile Number - 757-441-6689 
 E-Mail Address – melissa.oboyle@usdoj.gov 
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